Alexander Benjamin Lawton and Narcissa
Melissa Lawton were master and mistress of a
plantation in Thomas County, Georgia, during the
decades of the eighteen-fifties and eighteen-sixties.
According to family tradition, the name of that

plantation was Summer Oaks.
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PREFACE

Alexander Benjamin and Narcissa Melissa Lawton were
great, great, granﬁ grandparents of Stacey Church. Stacey
and Gerald Church are daughter and father.

Our family became intensely interested in life at
Summer QOaks plantation when we read the diary written by
Narcissa Melissa Lawton while she lived there in the year
"1862. Copies of that diary were given as Christmas gifts
in 1981 by Margaret Grogan. The original diary is now
in the possession of Kathryn Lawton, of Oviedo, Florida.
After reading the diary we decided to search out as much
information as we could find about Summer Oaks and our

ancestors who lived there. The Lawtons of Summer Oaks

reports some, but not all, of what we have found.

We have visited Thomasville, Georgia, three times
searching for information and becoming generally acquainted
with the Lawton's neighborhood. We have walked over land
that once was in Summer Oaks plantation; we have stood in
the sanctuary and sat in the pews of Liberty Baptist Church,
in Grooverville, where on Sunday morning, March 16, 1862,
Narcissa Melissa attended church service and a neighbor
was ordained a deacon; we have begun taking steps which
we hope eventually will lead to the protection and preser-

vation of old Lebanon cemetery.
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In Thomas Céunty several people have been especially
helpful to us; among them are: Miss Mary Harris, librarian
of the Thomasville city library; Thomas Hill, Curator of the
Thomas County Historical Museum; Mrs. Francis McLeod, in
Grooverville, who first told us about an old cemetery out
in the woods where some Lawtons were buried; Robert Lauder,
Manager of Merrily plantation, who guided us to old
Lebanon cemetery and rescued it from the underbrush; Hector
Irving Cook who lived and farmed on land that once was
in the plantation; I. Clayton Ramsey, a family historian of

" the Ramsey family.

Thomas 0. Lawton, Jr., of Allendale, South Carolina,
and Rev. Dr. Robert E. H. Peeples of Hilton Head Island,
South Carolina; both have a vast knowledge of family history
and both have been generous in sharing it with us.

Information about descendants of Winborn Theodore
came mostly from Ruth Miller Thomas, of Shreveport, Louisiana.

Information about descendants of Clara Isabelle and
Robert William came from Kathryn Lawton of Oviedo, Florida.

Information about descendants of Emma Lenora came
from Margaret Grogan of Beaumont, Texas, who has possess-
ion of Narcissa's original poetry.

The Lawtons of Summer Oaks is truly the result of a

family effort. The chart showing descendants of Alexander
Benjamin Lawton was drawn by Mary Martha Grogan Lundy of

Bloomburg, Texas. Gary Lawton Grogan of Avinger, Texas,
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managed the process of production which resulted in the
report documents being printed, bound, transported and
delivered to the proper place at the proper time. The
cost of producing the documents was paid with funds raised
by James Tillman Grogan, Sr., of Bloomburg, Texas.

We are grateful for the help, as we are grateful for
the family that gave it.

Research for this report was done by Jane Ann Grogan
Church, Stacey Allene Church and Gerald Marshall Church.
The report document was written by Stacey and Gerald Church.

We will be pleased to receive additional information
which will help make our knowledge of this family more
thorough. We can be reached at this address:

Efﬁ_ﬂﬁﬁilfs"* Church

Big Rapids, Michigan 49307
Phone: 616/796-7188
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INTRODUCTION

The Lawtons of Summer Oaks was written as a report

about research into family history and as a presentation
to the annual family reunion of the Lawton and Allied
Families Association, meeting in Hardeeville, South
Carolina, June 15, 16, 1984. It was also written as a

contribution to the growing body of literature about the

' Lawton family.

Anyone who reads this report should realize that it
is only an introduction to its subject. We can ask more
questions than we, as yet, can answer. A more detailed
story remains to be written, and the information required
to write it is available.

Further study should be given to such topics as:

(1) the relationship between this branch of the family
and the activity, development and influence of other
branches, (2) the effect the war between the states had
on the family, (3) the question of where they lived and
how they prospered while they lived in South Carolina and
while they lived in Baker County, Georgia, (4) the de-
scendants not accounted for in this report, especially

those of Thomas J. There are other topics also.
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The Lawtons and their kin have a long, rich, wvaried,
exciting past. They often have played important parts in
the history of their communities, their states, their
nations, Colonial, Union and Confederate.

Alexander Benjamin Lawton and Narcissa Melissa Lawton
deserve recognition in the story of their family's accomplish-
ments. We welcome this opportunity to focus attention upon
them. We thank the members of the Lawton and Allied
Families Association for inviting us to make this presenta-

tion.
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PART 1

LAWTON FAMILY BACKGROUND

William Lawton

William Lawton came to South Carolina from England.
Although we do not know when he arrived or what prompted
him to leave for America, one family tradition is that he

gsailed to Charleston from Plymouth. The only thing known

about William's father was that he belonged to the Cheshire
family.l

William's signature on the will of John Sealy in 1737
is the first record of him as a citizen of Charleston County,
South Carolina. It is interesting that his was the only
signature of the three witnesses; the others signed with
their mark.

William Lawton became a planter in St. John's Parish,
Edisto Island, Colleton County. When his estate was ap-
praised after his death, he was listed as "Captain."”
Whether the title came as a result of a career before he
left England, a position held in the local militia, or
simply as a local gesture of respect is not known. )

William Lawton acquired his first 200 acres of land

from the estate of William Tilly on Edisto Island, Colleton



" plateau above the swamp.

County in May of 1744, Four-hundred and sixty adjoining
acres were purchased from James Cuthbert in 1756. As was
much of South Carolina, the land was swampy and had to be
cleared by slaves. Rice became the plantation's leading
cash crop through the efforts of thirty-six slaves planting,

2 William also raised

tending and harvesting the grain.
indigo, pease, and corn. Four bee hives supplied honey;
twenty-three turkeys, thirty-one fowls, fifteen geese,

and fifty-six hogs insured meat on the table. Sixty-five
cattle, thirty-six sheep and six horses grazed the grassy

3

In addition to the crops and livestock William owmed,
there were the tools and equipment needed to maintain the
plantation. Eight rice mills, three corn mills, two spin-
ning wheels, one quilting frame, numerous tools for plant-
ing, barrel making, harvesting, and marking livestock kept
the plantation productive. William and his family could
use a carriage, buggy or a large or small sailing canoe
for transpnrtation.ﬁ Several guns and shrimp and fish
nets helped provide food, and probably recreation.

As a prominent planter, William must have been included
in influential meetings and local social affairs, because
his wardrobe contained many items exclusively for dress-
wear. He would be an impressive figure riding his horse
Frisk, horsewhip in hand, in his best broadcloth suit with

gold sleeve-buttons, silver buckles attached to his shoes,
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and his wig arranged firmly on his hend.s Two hats, three
Fustian coats, an old Welch coat, a broadcloth coat, "Coat
and Breeches Bagathey," a riding coat, a calico "rapper"
and a "lott of clothes" comprised William's everyday

6

wardrobe.” The community on Edisto Island by 1750 was

enjoying a time of prosperity. Named in honor of King
George 11, Georgia Colony, officially founded in 1733, was

providing a buffer from the warring Epnnllrdl.?

Immigrants
poured into the Colonies from the British Isles and Europe.

Despite the terrifying death rate among infants and children,

" the population was growing. Marriage, especially early

marriage, was encouraged and widows often remarried promptly.

Excessive child-bearing drained the vitality of many

pioneer women, and a number of the largest families, like

the Lawton's, were borne by several mutherl.a
Negro slaves, of whom William Lawton owned several

dozen, were being shipped in, purchased, and set to work

9 On at least two

on the rice and indigo plantations.
occasions, William dealt in the money or slave market
with John Calder. Five slaves were secured by them in
March 1753, and two slaves in March 175410

Much of the life on Edisto revolved around religion
and the church. Although few records remain, William
was probably cither a Presbyterian or amn Anglican. The
minutes of the Vestry of St. John's Colleton, the Anglican

Congregation for Edi:tu,-fnr August 6, 1759, appointed
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William as one of the Overseers for the Poor.
was required to meet with the church wardens monthly after
services to consult and repulate matters pertaining to the
poor and to account to the vestries for their activities.
Failing to accept the appointment was subject to finn.l2
The Anglican church was a powerful governing body in the
community, so this appointment did not necessarily mean
William practiced Anglicanism. James Clark, in his will
of April 15, 1750, names William as one of the trustees
of a trust fund valued at one hundred English pounds, for
* the use and support of the Gospel in the Presbyterian
Congregation on Edisto Island.13

William married three times. His first wife, Mary
Clarke, daughter of Jeremiah Clarke, bore four children:
Josiah, William Jr, and Jeremiah Lawton all died young and
unmarried between 1757 and 1762, Mary Clarke's only sur-
viving child, Sarah, born in 1739, married John Seabrook
in 1774. She was the mother of William Seabrook who later
made his fortune by introducing sea-island cotton to
Edistu.lﬁ

William's second wife, Mary Winborn (c. 1743-4), a
daughter of Thomas Winborn, had two children; a daughter,
Mary, who died young; and a son, Winborn. Winborn, born
on Edisto in 1745, died on St. James Island September 22, 1809,
He married Mary Mathews and had three children: Winborn
Lawton Jr., born 1782, died 1861; Beulah Lawton (who married

John Hughes, January 29, 1801), and William Lawton.l®
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William anfun's third wife was Mary Stone Grimball,
widow of Paul Grimball., By Paul Grimball, Mary had the
following children: Providence Grimball Mikell, John
Grimball, Ann Grimball Robert, and Thomas Grimball.
William and Mary Stone Grimball Lawton had one child,
Joseph Lawton, born on Edisto Island, October 18, 1753.

Mary probably had little life separate from her
husband, children and church activities. William provided
well for Mary and her family, and her home contained many

luxuries. Silver forks and spoons, china, damask table

" linen, curtains, "looking glasses," pictures, tea tables,

desks, and other fine items were enjoyed and used along with
the usual ordinary tin ware, '"old dishes,'" and trunka.lﬁ
Although books were rare in the colonies, William's library
contained several religious works, and according to the
inventory of his estate, he left "a lott of boaks.“l?
William Lawton's will, dated October 9, 1757, was
proved December 9, 1757. It is probable that he died
before October 15 of that year by the date of his son
Josiah's will, which speaks of the "land left to me by my

w18 William left Mary, his "beloved wife," nine

father.
slaves with their tools, his riding horse Friske and a

saddle, one fourth of his stock of cattle and sheep, one-
third of his furniture, and for her lifetime, the use of

his large canoe and sails and of the "plantation I now live

on,“li



William also generously took care of his children
from his previous wives. To Josiah Lawton, who would die
soon after his father, he left one negro man, a large
silver spoon, a gun, 230 of the original acreage "bought
from Mr. Cuthbert," and the large cance and sails (after
Mary's death). -

The other 230 acres of the original land was lefct,
along with a Negro man, to William Lawton Jr. Sarah
received a Negro woman, and her son received a riding horse
and saddle. Daughter Mary also received a Negro woman, and
" a pair of her father's gold sleeve buttons.

To Joseph, William and Mary Stone Grimball Lawton's
only child, William left a Negro girl and boy, a silver
watch and silver shoe buckles, and after his mother's death
the plantation,

William is buried in a plantation cemetery in an area

known as Hanahan's on Steamboat Landing Road, Edisto Island.

His daughter Sarah Seabrook, her husband John and their son
William are buried there with him. This cemetery is on the
property William willed to Mary and on her death to Joseph.
Joseph sold the land to John Hanahan on December 13, 177

Joseph Lawton

After the death of William Lawton, his widow, Mary
Stone Crimball Lawton remarried on January 15, 1759. With
her third husband, Samuel Fickling, Mary moved her family
from fﬁisto to Prince William's Parish in Granville County.

521
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After her remarriage, Mary released to young Joseph the
rights to the Edisto Island Plantation left to her by William.
Joseph married Sarah Roberts, granddaughter of Pierre
Robert the French Huguenot Pasteur on the Santee, on
May 18, 1??3.1 A year later Joseph sold the Edisto Island
land, moved to St. Peter's Parish near the future village
of Robertville, and established his Mulberry Grove planta-
tion. Joseph and Sarah's first son, William Henry, was
born there February 23, 1775. A second son, Joseph James,
was born August 18, 1777.

By this time the Declaration of Independence had
been signed in Boston. Joseph served as a lieutenant in
the South Carolina Militia in the spring and summer of
1778, leading the Black Swamp Company of foot soldiers in
protecting the strategic Two Sister's Ferry.2

Joseph first intended to produce silk when he moved
to Black Swamp. It was never a successful venture, and
as he acquired more land and slaves Joseph turned his in-
terests to rice, indigo, and especially, cotton.3 On
July 18, 1873, Joseph Lawton made a land purchase that
would affect the lives of generations of Lawtons to come.
From George Mosse he purchased a 198 acre parcel of land
adjoining his already extensive Mulberry Grove plantation.#
At this time Joseph and Sarah had four children; William
Henry, Joseph James, Thirza, and Benjamin Themistocles Dion

who was born in 1782. Their neighbors, George and Phoebe
Norton Mosse, had three daughters. Although George Mosse



moved his growing family, which eventually included four
more daughters, to Savannah, the family spent the summer
months in St. Peter's Parish. As could be expected, three
of the Lawton brothers later married Mosse sisters.

Sarah was undoubtedly the matriarch of the large
Lawton clan at Black Swamp. She bore three more children
after Benjamin: Charlotte Ann, born in 1785; Alexander
James, born in 1790; and Winborn Asa, born in 1793. In-
telligent and well-educated, Sarah was concerned with her

family, the neighborhood, and the church. Joseph and

_ Sarah were church converts from Episcopalian to Baptist,

They were supporters of the Pipe Creek Church until 1788,
joining at Black Swamp that year.

Between the Revolution and the Civil War, Black Swamp
became one of the wealthiest areas in the state., According
to one newspaper account,

...the people around this place, with very
few exceptions, were in easy circumstances, many
owning plantations, with from fifty to two hundred
slaves, and several as many as five hundred. Some
planters numbered as many as twenty thousand acres
of land in their domain. Their sons and daughters
were educated at the hesg Southern and Northern
colleges and seminaries.

Education was important to the families in Black Swamp.

In 1818 the Black Swamp Academy was incorporated by three

7

Lawtons, two Roberts, and two Maners. In addition to

the Academy, Black Swamp could boast of its own courthouse
and jail, a small Episcopal Church, a large and splendid

Baptist church, stores and professional offices.” Joseph's

son, William Henry, was the first postmaster of the Federal



Post Office at Black Swamp. Founded in 1800, it became
Robertville in 1812.°

Joseph was a leader of the community and was elected
to the South Carolina House of Representatives as a
member from St, Peter's Parish, Beaufort District, from
1784 until 1?86.1n He served as a Justice of the Quorum
and as a Justice of the Peace in the 1790's. In 1792
and again in 1795, he served as a commissioner upon
appointment by the state legislature to lay out public
roads from various centers to and through Black Swamp.

Joseph Lawton died in 1815. Up until that time,
Joseph had been planting and harvesting in cooperation with
his son Alexander. 1In his will, Joseph left Sarah "the
use of my Houses & as much land as she wishes to cultivate,
of any lands I own in this Cﬂuntry."ll He also left his
slaves, his stock of horses, cattle, sheep and hogs, house-
hold items and tools to her. To Alexander James he left the
land and the house.

True to her nature, Sarah went right on managing the
plantation after Joseph's death. She lived almost twenty-
five yecars longer than Joseph, with a deep conviction that
it was her responsibility to run the plantation, to keep up
with their seven surviving children and, as far as possible,
the numerous offspring of those children. In her later
years, on fine afternoons, she had her well-groomed horses

hitched to her :lrringe..and one of her slaves drove her on
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inspection tours of the plantations and for visits to the

12 sarah died in 1839, at the age of eighty-four

13

families.

years and six months.

Benjamin Themistocles Dion Lawton

Benjamin Themistocles Dion Lawton was the fourth of
Joseph and Sarah Lawton's seven children. He was born
December 22, 1782, at Mulberry Grove plantation. Like his
brothers and sisters, Benjamin T. D. learned early about
plantation life.

At the age of twenty-one, on June 16, Benjamin married
Jane Mosse, ﬁne of the seven Mosse sisters. Jane was
twenty., They lived in the Black Swamp area near their
family plantations. In 1804 a daughter, Thirza was born
to them but died in infancy. 1In 1806 another daughter,
Glorianna, was born. She grew to adulthood and married
William Henry Brisbane, her first cousin. In 1807 Robert
Themistocles was born. In 1808 a daughter, Phoebe Sarah,
was born. Phoebe married Thomas Willingham and became
the mother of seventeen children, Alexander Benjamin was
born in 1809,

In 1810, in a pioneering movement to the frontier,
several families from the area around Black Swamp migrated
west across Georgia to the Mississippi River near the
present city of MNatchez. Benjamin T. D., age twenty-
eight, his brother Joseph James and his brother-in-law

Thomas Polhill were included in one such group. The United
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States gﬂvernmené had purchased that area from Spain in
the Louisiana Purchase in 1803, 1In 1810 the area still
was unsettled, wild and largely under control of the
Indians with a heavy influence of the Spanish in Florida,
The Battle of New Orleans did not take place until 1815,
and Florida was not purchased from Spain until 1819,
Keeping these dates in mind may help us appreciate what
an undeveloped country these people were moving into when
they reached Natchez in 1810.

In March of 1814, Benjamin's brother Alexander noted
" in his plantation diary,

In this year my Brothers Joseph Lawton &

Benjamin T, D, Lawton & sister Thirza (Lawton)

Polhill's bereav'd Daughters returned from the

Western Country, after a disastrous journey to

that country for the purpose of settling there

they calculate they sunk about 1800 dollars each,.

My poor aisterlThirza died in that country (Vicksburg)

December 1811,

Benjamin T. D. began building his own plantation in
1814 in the more familiar area of St, Peter's Parish,
Beaufort District, less than a dozen miles from his parents,
He contributed his name to the community, calling it Lawton-
_ville.2 Benjamin established a large plantation and became
a leader in the community of Lawtonville which grew to become
the business, social, and postal center of the surrounding
territory. During this time more children were bormn to
the family.

A daughter, Martha, was born. Another daughter, Charlotte

Esther, born in the year 1813, married Edward Peeples and
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bore fifteen children. MNext came a son, William Seabrook,
in 1814, Winborn Joseph was born in 1818, and James Stoney
in 1821, The youngest child, Mary Elizabeth, was born in
1823 when her mother was forty years old and her father
forty-one. OQver a period of nineteen years Jane Mosse
Lawton bore eleven children, ten of whom lived to maturity.
Benjamin T. D. and Jane Mosse Lawton were the grandparents
of eighty-nine grandchildren.

In the year 1826 Benjamin T, D, was the leader in a
successful effort to move the Pipe Creek Baptist Church to
" Lawtonville where Winborn Asa Lawton, his brother, became
pastor. Benjamin was credited with being a "deacon of
historic service to Pipe Creek Baptist Church."3 After
1884 the church was known as Lawtonville Baptist Church.“
In the year 1833 the church needed a new pastor because
Winborn Asa moved to May River. The job was filled by
William Henry Brisbane who was married to Benjamin's
daughter Glorianna.

One mark of progress in Lawtonville can be noted by
the establishing of a United States post office there on
October 18, 1833, The first postmaster was Thomas Willingham
who was married to Benjamin's daughter Phoebe Sarah.

Benjamin's youngest child, Mary Elizabeth, married
Dr. Theodore Dehon Mathews, sometime medical doctor,
preacher, school teacher, political activist and author.

They lived in Albany, Georgia, in 1846 when Benjamin went
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to visit them. He died there and was buried in Georgia,
but back home in Lawtonville a cenotaph was erected for

him in the cemetery. It reads:

SACRED TO THE MEMORY OF
BENJAMIN T. D. LAWTON
WHO DIED IN ALBANY, BAKER COUNTY, GA.,
WHERE HIS REMAINS ARE DEPOSITED
ON THE 18ch APRIL 1846
AGED 63 YEARS 3 MONTHS AND 3 DAYS
MOST OF THE LATER YEARS OF HIS LIFE WERE SPENT IN
THIS COMMUNITY AND FOR MANY YEARS HE WAS A DEACON
OF THE BAPTIST CHURCH. THIS MONUMENT 1S ERECTED BY
HIS CHILDREN AS A TOKEN OF THEIR AFFECTION

Jane Mosse Lawton lived eleven years longer than
Benjamin T, D. She died May 23, 1857, at the age of

seventy-four, She was buried in Lawtonville cemetery,

Winborn Asa Lawtnnl

Joseph and Sarah Lawton's youngest son, Winborn Asa
Lawton, was born June 23, 1793, at Mulberry Grove planta-
tion., Winborn was named after his grandfather's second wife,
Mary Winborn.

Winborn was only seventeen years old when he married
Mary Cater Rhodes in 1810. At thirty-four Mary was the
widow of Thomas Rhodes, who had died the previous year.
Through this marriage, Winborn gained property including
twenty-eight slaves.

Their first child, Winborn Benjamin, was born in the
year 1812, A daughter, Mary Cater was born in 1813 and
lived to the age of seveﬁ. A son, Alexander Robert was

born in the year 1815 and lived to the age of six. Their



14

last child, Narcissa Melissa, was born March 6, 1817 when
her mother was forty-one years old and her father was
twenty-four.

According to the United States census of 1820, Winborn
Asa owned twenty slaves. And, by 1820 he had been licensed
to preach by the Black Swamp Baptist Church and served as
a messenger from that church to the annual meeting of the
Savannah River Associationm.

In the year 1823 he was recognized by the Association

as an ordained minister and became pastor of the Pipe

" Creek Church at Lawtonville, South Carolina. Also in

that year on February 25, 1823, Winborn's wife, Mary Cater
Rhodes, died at the age of forty-seven, She left Winborn
with a son eleven and a daughter six.

In 1821 a local medical doctor, Samuel Perry, died.
His estate, settled by Alexander James Lawton, Winborn's
brother, included a house in Robertville. Winborn and
Isadore Perry, the widow, were married. This marriage
lasted until September 17, 1826, when Isadore died. There
were no children born of the marriage but, once again, at
the age of thirty-three, Winborn Asa was a widower this
time with a son now fourteen and a daughter nine,

He remained in his home area as pastor of the church
at Lawtonville. By January 1830 Winborn was married for
a third time, to a widow, Lucinda Walker Landrum, who was

ten years younger than he. In September of that year, their
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first son, John, was born. They eventually had two more
sons Asa and Judson and two daughters Sarah and Anna.

By 1830 Winborn Asa owned thirty slaves. In 1832
he was called to the May River Baptist Church and was
replaced in Lawtonville by William Henry Brisbane, son-
in-law of Winborn's brother Benjamin T. D. Lawton. He
remained at May River Baptist Church, located at Bluffton,
South Carolina, between Savannah and Hilton Head Island,
until 1850 when he retired to his plantation near Lawtonville,
He was fifty-seven years old.

Retirement to the life of a respected member of the
local planter aristocracy, though it may have been appeal-
ing to Winborn Asa, did not last long. In the year 1850
he resumed his previous post as pastor of the Pipe Creek
Church in Lawtonville where he remained until his death.

He was a strong leader of that church during the difficult
war years when all of Lawtonville was destroyed, except for
the church building. In the year 1866 his church reported
a membership of 107 people of whom eighty-six were blacks.

By the year 1860 forty-two slaves worked his plantation
which was operated by an overseer when Winborn Asa was away.

Winborn Benjamin, his oldest son, became a merchant
in Savannah, Their correspondence reveals an active com-
mercial trade between that city and the plantations in

the Lawtonville - Robertville area,
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In October 1877, Winborn Asa was elected pastor of
the church for another year; he was then eighty-four years
old. He preached seven sermons in the year 1878, the last
on February 17. On February 23, 1878, Winborn Asa Lawton
died.
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. Winborn Asa Lawton

llnfurmatinn in this brief description of Winborm
Asa Lawton was taken selectively from various places in
Coy K. Johnson, Two Centuries of Lawtonville Baptists, 1775-1975.




PART II

ALEXANDER BENJAMIN LAWTON AND HIS FAMILY
"IN SOUTH CAROLINA

Alexander Benjamin Lawton was born September 23, 1809,
in South Carolina. He was the fifth child of Benmjamin

Themistocles Dion Lawton and Jane Mosse, one of three

Mosse sisters who married three Lawton brothuri.l

When A.B. was one year old his father joined a family
migration to Mississippi. When A.B. was three his father
returned and started a plantation in the area near Mulberry
Grove, the plantation owned by Alexander Benjamin's grand-
father, Joseph Lawton. A.B. grew up in a neighborhood where
his grandfather, uncles and other relatives lived on plan-
tations. He had four brothers and five sisters living at
home .

Among Alexander Benjamin's many first cousins was
Elizabeth Mary Brisbane, who was a year older than he.

His mother, Jane Mosse and Elizabeth's mother, Mary Ann Hﬂﬂll:
were sisters. Elizabeth's father was Adam Fowler Brisb:ne.2
Another first cousin growing up in the neighborhood was
Marcissa Melissa Lawton. Borm March 16, 1817, Narcissa

was eight years younger than A.B. Her father, Winborn Asa

Lawton was the youngest brother of Alexander Benjamin's father.

& 20
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Narcissa's mother, Mary Cater Rhoades, was a widow
with two sons and a daughter when she married Narcissa's
father, giving Narcissa two stepbrothers and a step-
sister. 5She also had an older brother, Winborn Benjamin.
Two other children died when Narcissa was three and four
years old. When Narcissa was six years old, her mother died.

Narcissa's father married a second wife, another widow,
Isadore Perry, who died within three years when Narcissa
was nine years old.

Alexander Benjamin, when he was twenty years old, in
*a practice not uncommon in the Lawton family, married his
first cousin Elizabeth Mary Brisbane, May 20, 1829.

By January of 1830, Narcissa's father had married a
third widow, Luecinda Walker Landrum. Narcissa, now thirteen,
had her third mother.

The United States census taken in the summer of 1830
shows a count of people by age brackets; it lists only
the name of each head of a household. It shows A.B. Lawton
as the head of a household at the age of twenty. In the
same household it shows one male and one female between
the ages of forty and fifty. It also shows fifteen male
and thirteen female slaves. We wonder if A.B. and Elizabeth
married and then moved in with the Brisbames. Elizabeth's
father died in the summer of 1830 which may have put A.B.
and Elizabeth in control of a Brisbane plantation.

On October 12, 1832, Mary Jane was born to A.B. and
Elizabeth, their first child.
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Also in 1832, Narcissa and her family moved out of
the Lawtonville neighborhood. Her father todok a position
as pastor of the May River Baptist Church in Bluffton,

South Carolina. They maintained their plantation home,
however. It was operated by an overseer.

In 1834 a second daughter, Martha S., was born to
A.B. and Elizabeth,

Narcissa's older brother, Winborn Benjamin, did not
follow the family tradition of becoming a planter. Instead,
he became a merchant in Savannah where he served as the
" business representative for his father selling plantation
products, buying supplies, and doing errands in the city
for many others in the family. Through her letters to
her brother and her early poetry, Narcissa left us an
engaging portrait of a young southern lady. Devout,
sensitive, and loyal, she was concerned about her family
and the neighborhood. Her letters in the year 1835 were
full of news about family and friends, gossip and life
in the community, and her worries and concerns. On Jume 20,
1835, Narcissa wrote to her brother saying she was pleased
he had chosen Sarah Mathews as a "=0mpani¢n.“3 Although
Narcissa thought her an amiable and deserving girl, their
father was concerned about her ill health and weakliness
which he apparently thought would be very expensive for

Winborn! In the same letter she warned:



...it seems that some busybody has been trying
to set my Grand Mother against you by telling
her that you bought a pleasure boat to sail
about in while you were neglecting every thing
for pleasure but I have just written to her
contradicting it as well as I would do don't
mention this again for I could not like it to
be known but I will tell you every thing that
I hear about you because...you are the only
brother that I have.

In several letters Marcissa asked her brother to
purchase goods for her; a set of curls, in June, "the
color of the hair I send,” and in July, "Mother begs
that you would...get a tin for an easy chair. She sends
: the money 37% cents or if they cost too much just to
get a large chamber utensil."

In August 1835, when she was eighteen years old,
Narcissa wrote to her brother telling of a letter her
father received from cousin Joseph Lawton who was away
at school in New York.

He gives a horrid account of the yankeys
although he likes the institution very much.

In the same letter she asked,

Will you be pleased to send me a bunch of
quills and make a few pens for me. If there is
money enough do will you send me a paper of pins.
If it is not asking too much I would beg you to
hav this piece of poetry printed for me I composed
it on my mother's grave.

In the collection we have of Narcissa's poetry, we

found her poem.
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A Vision of my mother on a bed of illness

I feel her presence with me now,

Her soft touch on my burning brow,

A shadowy form is clearly seen,

Oh: tell me can it be a dream?

If tis a dream then wake me not,

But let me still enjoy the thought,
That she is here with love so deep
To hold her vigil whilst I sleep.

On that loved bosom once again,
Where oft in infancy I've lain,

My wearied aching head I rest,

And fondly in her arms am pressed.
Oh! Mother though long years have passed,
Since thou went to thy sacred rest;
Yet often have I felt thee near

And thought thy spirit must be here.
When in temptations darkening hour
Some unseen hand some unseen power,
Some influence granted strength to me,
It broke the thrall and made me free.
Sometimes an impulse I'd restrain
And over self a victory gain,

Because my mother I believed,

When I did wrong that thou wert grieved.

24



Oh! Mother do mot leave me now,
Still press they hand upon my brow
Still whisper words of love and peace
and bid these painful throbbins cease.
Twas but a dream - and she is gone
1 am awake and all alone -
Yet still I think she has been here
Her words still linger in my ear -
Live near thy God kneel oft in prayer
Remember 1 am hovering near
When suffering nature calls for aid
go, shrink not in the time of need;
And when your pilgrimage is done
And setting is your earthly sun
Thy mother's spirit then will come,
To bear thee to thy heavenly home

N. M. Lawton

Winborn Benjamin probably indulged his younger sister
and purchased her pins and curls and had her poetry printed
for her. As most big brothers do at one time or another,
he also probably teased her about the boys. In a letter
written in August of 1836, she seems to be responding to
such teasing. Narcissa was nineteen.

I regret very much to see that you hear that I

was engaged to be married to any one but either

of the two that you mentioned. I should never

think of (it) for onme I hold in utter contempt

and the other I could never reconcile it to my

conscience to marry as he is a first cousin.
I wish that you would put a stop to that report



for 1 think too much of myself and my proud

family ever to disgrace them by a union with that

insignificant little puppy.

No my dear Brother I never think of

marrying and as regard making conquests of the

young men I ncver try to do it because I know

that I should make a total failure.

We do not know the exact date, but sometime between
mid 1836 and October 29, 1839, a third daughter was born
to Alexander Benjamin and Elizabeth Mary Brisbane Lawton.
They named the daughter Eusebia. On October 29, 1839,
tragedy struck the family of A.B. His wife, Elizabeth,
~died. A.B., thirty years old, was left with three
daughters: Mary Jane, seven; Martha, five; Eusebia, an
infant. |

Sometime between February and October 1840, despite
her assurances to her brother that she would never marry
a first cousin, MNarcissa Melissa Lawton became the second
wife of Alexander Benjamin Lawton.

Taking on responsibility for a husband, three small

children and a home must have been difficult for Narcissa.

The United States census for 1840 shows A.B. and Narcissa
living with Mary Jane, Martha and Eusebia.

In 1841, Narcissa gave birth to a son. He was named
Alexander for his father and Cater for Narcissa's mother,
Alexander Cater Lawton. MNarcissa would always have a

special love for this first-born son. While he was still

young, she wrote a poem tc him entitled, "My Eldest Born."

-,
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My eldest born

My son, I am thinking of the time,
When you a little boy,
First woke the mother in my heart,

With proudest throbt of joy.

When in those happy days of yore
Thy fair young face I'de scan
And marveled if that tiny form

Would ever be a man.

And when thy little toddling steps
First ventured out alone,
My heart beat fast with happiness

For thee my eldest born.

And as successive years :nlled on,
My hopes for thee would rise,
Each well developed feature mark

Each noble trait 1I'de prize.

My son let not thy mother's hopes
Like castles built in air
Prove false illusions of the mind

All shaddowy, but fair.
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But always have an honest pride
To bravely do what's right,
And spurn those vices which allure

The youth with smile so bright.

1'de love to see in those dark eyes
And on that kindling cheek,
An intellectual fire burn,

A soaring genious speak.

Thy Father's councils bear in mind
And strict his word obey.

Remember that in life's decline
That thou should'st be his stay.

And early in thy flush of youth
True light and wisdom seek.
And always yield thee to the sway

Of pure religion meek.

These are my hopes for thee my son
Oh! let them not be vain.
Strike in the first fair dawn of youth

For some high noble aim.

On February 6, 1843, Narcissa's second son, Winborn

Theodore, was born.
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NOTES

1Annie Elizabeth Miller, Our Family Circle,
(Linden, Tennessee: Continental Bock Company, 19735),

p. 347.

2g . Haviland Hillman, "The Brisbanes," The South
Carolina Historical and Geneological Magazine, Vol. XIX
{October 1913) No. &, p. 183.

3Quﬂtatiﬂn5 from the letters of Narcissa Melissa
Lawton are from letters provided to us by Thomas 0. Lawton, Jr.




PART II1

ALEXANDER BENJAMIN LAWTON, HIS FAMILY AND
SUMMER OAKS PLANTATION

Winborn Theodore, born February 6, 1843, was the
last child born while the family lived in South Carolina.
Clara Isabelle, born May 28, 1845, was the first child
. born while the family lived in Georgia. Sometime between
those two dates, we do not yet know exactly when, the
family moved their place of residence. 1In a letter from
Albany, Georgia, dated October 10, 1844, a reference to
Alexander Benjamin locates him there, Theodore Dehon
Mathews wrote to Winborn Benjamin Lawton commenting on
politics and reporting on local support for Henry Clay.
In his letter Mathews wrote, "1 suppose you have heard that
I was an advocate of Mr. Clay's election. This may be a
matter of surprise to you. Capt. A.B.L. and myself joined
the Clay Club at the same time, but the moment Polk was

1 This

nominated, he abandoned the support of Clay..."
reference tells us the family was in Albany, Georgia, before
October 1844, and gives us other information too. It

tells us that Alexander Benjamin was known as Captain Lawton
sixteen years before his first cousin, Alexander Robert,

with CGeorgia militiamen, occupied Ft. Pulaski and helped
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begin the war betwcen the states. His title, whether
military or honorary, must have originated in some event
that occurred well before the war. The family that moved
to Ceorgia included Alexander Benjamin, Narcissa Melissa,
Mary Jane, Martha, and possibly Eusebia, the three children
of Alexander Benjanin by his first wife, and Alexander
Cater, who his mother called Alex, and Winborn Theodore
who his mother called Winny, the two children by Narcissa.
They did not move west alone. As members of the
family had some thirty-five years earlier when Alexander
Il!hjllin'l father migrated to Mississippi, they had the
company of other members of the family. The Central of
Georgia Railroad was completed from Savannah to Macon in
1843 making transportation easier. Family members were
becoming planters and businessmen in the city of Macon
and southward into Baker Gnunt:r.2
On May 28, 1845, Clara Isabelle was born to A. B.
and Narcissa. Clara was Narcissa's third child, the first
girl and the first child born in Georgia. MNarcissa cele-
brated the child's arrival by writing a poem entitled

"My Little Daughter Clara." : .
My little daughter Clara

Protect her dearest Lord,
Thru all the paths of youth,
Help her to shun temptation's snare,

And early seek thy truth.



And oh incline her heart
To gentleness and love
And may no stormy passions e'er

Her tender bosom move.

And as she grows in years
Still may her mind unfold
And brightly gleam that inner light,
Like jems of purest gold.

Oh! may this blooming bud
Which thou hast given me,
Mature in loveliness,

Guided and watched by thee.

Should adverse winds oer cast,
The brightness of her day
Bereft of fond parental care
Oh! be thou then her stay.

And when at last in death,
She calmly sinks to rest
Then may her happy spirit soar

To regions of the blessed.
' by her Mother

On April 18, 1846, Benjamin Themistoeles Dion Lawton,
father of A.B. died while visiting his children in Albany,
Georgia. Whether A.B. inherited property from his father

we have not yet discovered.
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On June 16, 1847, a third son, Robert William, was
born. Sometime between August 18, 1848, and August 18, 1849,
a son named Benjamin F. was born.

The census of 1850 listed nine Lawton families living
in five counties in Georgia. It showed Alexander Benjamin's
family living in Baker County. The value of his property
was shown as $510,000. His daughter Eusebia had died
earlier; she was not shown in the 1850 census which listed
A.B,, Narcissa, and the children Mary Jane, Martha, Alex,
Winborn, Clara, Robert and Benjamin who was one year old.

On March 30, 1850, Alexander Benjamin bought land in
Baker County, Georgia. For the sum of $1,100 he purchased
land lots 205, 234, 235 from CGeorge and Henry Carter of
New York. This purchase was recorded originally in Muscogee
County, Georgia. The amount of land involved was not
stated in the indenture.3

In the year 1851 a fifth son, Thomas J., was born into
the family. Also, by 1851, Alexander Benjamin was a busi-
nessman as well as a planter. On November 25, 1851, the

Macon newspaper, Gecrgia Telegraph, printed his business ad-

vertisement, as shown in figure 1. According to the adver-
tisement, Alexander Benjamin's bu#iness was located in
Oglethorpe, Georgia, which was sitvated approximately half
way between the city of Maccn to the north and Daker County
to the south, along the Southwestern railroad. By the year
1860, the Southwestern ran south from Macen into the city

of Albany and almost to Baker County.
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Figure 1. Newspaper advertisement
for a Lawton business in Georgia in the year
1851.

A. B, LANTON & CO.,
Ware-House and Commiscion Merchants.

Oglethorpe, Ga.

WM, S. LAWTON & CO.
Ware-House and Commission Merchants.

Corner of Second and Poplar Streets Macon, Ga.

LAWTON, DOWELL & coO.,
No. 210 Bay Street
Savannah, Ga.

A, B. LAWTON---W. S, LAWTON---SAM'L L.
DOWELL

Tender their services to their friends and the
public, hoping from their long experience inm business
to be able to give satisfaction.

They beg leave to refer to Samuel J. Pay, Macon,
Ga.; Judge B. F. Porter, Charleston, 5. C.; T,
Willingham, and E. H. Peeples, Esqs., Lawtonville,

8, C,; Col, W. J. Lawton, Screven County, Ga.; W. A.
Cumming, Coweta County, Ga.; N. Dudley, Esq., Rome,
Ga.; Gov, C., J. McDonald, Marietta, Ga.

The company in which A.B. was a partner included his
brother William Seabrook Lawtnn.4 In connection with his
business in Oglethorp, on December 9, 1851, A.B. accepted
a promissory note from Josiah A. Flournoy, a son of Alex-
ander's cousin Sarah Asena Lawton Flournoy. In the note,
Flournoy agreed to pay $4,000 on January 5 next and $2,000
on June 1 next. When the first note camc due, cousin
Flournoy failed to make his payment. Five days later A.B.
appeared before a justice of the peace in Monroe County,
swore that his $4,000 was in danger, and on January 10
petitioned the Monroe County Superior Court asking for an
action to regain payment of the debt and damages in the

amount of $8,000. On January 19, cousin Flournoy was
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ordered to appear in court the first Monday in March to
defend himself. Within a few days, business relationships
with cousin Flournoy improved dramatically. On January 31,
1852, A.B. signed a receipt for payment of both of Flournoy's
notes in the amount of $6,000, and sold to the same Josiah
Flournoy land lots 234, 235 and 246 in district two, Baker
County. These lots, containing 750 acres, more or less, were
sold for $5,500 or $7.30 an acre.’
The year 1852 was an important one for A.B. and Narcissa.
Since they both were raised on plantations, they probably
' considered plantation living as the best way of life for
themselves and their children, and they probably considered
plantation ownership to be symbolic of their success.
Doubtless, they were very happy people on December 14, 1852,
when thev made their first purchase of land, 1,319 acres,
in Thomas County, Georgia, and began building Summer Oaks
for their family., See figure 2.

Figure 2. Land purchased in Thomas
County. Deed dated December 14, 1852.

Purchased from John C. Cochran (who bought it
from Anderson Peeler) 5

Part of lot 123
Part of lot 124
940 acres (the Robert Hurst
place)

Part of lot 153 379 acres
Total 1,319 acres

Cost: §5,000 which equals $3.79 an acre
In Thomas County a land lot contz2ined 486 acres.
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One month after his first purchase, A.B. bought more

land for Summer Oaks plantation. See figure 3.

Figure 3. Land purchased in Thomas Eounty.?

Deed dated January 14, 1853.

Purchased from William Peeler
.- The south half of lot 125 245 acres

Cost: $500 which equals $2.04 an acre
- Two neighbors, Leonard Tuggle and John Sheffield
i were witnesses to the sale.
Although this may have been an exciting time for the
family, a time of growth and plantation building, of mov-
" ing to a new place, of meeting new people, it also was a
time of sadness. In the summer of 1853, A.B. and Narcissa
Y lost one of their children. 1In twelve years Narcissa gave
i birth to six children. She was pregnant with the seventh
when her son Benjamin died at the age of four, Narcissa,
. who felt the loss deeply, expressed her grief in the way
that was most natural for her. She commemorated Benjamin

in a poem published on September 4, 1853, entitled "On the
i Death of Little Benny."

i On the Death of Little Benny

£ The silver chord is luséd,

By death's resistless dart.
And broken is the golden bowl,

That shrined by darling's heart.
< . His sparkling eéves are closed,

¢ His prattling tongue is still;
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Father of heaven let me be
Submissive to thy will.
My little boy has gone
Unto that happy land
Where he aspired to go
To join the infant band.
And well he loved us all,
With feelings pure and warm.
The trees, the birds, the flowers
All had for him a charm.
Ah, often did he sing
In his sweet childish tone,
0f the bright "happy land,"
And of his heavenly home.
Once with an earmnest look
He took me by the hand
Hear, mama, list the birds, he said
Can sing of "happy land."
He fancied that the birds,
Sang praise to God all day
So dearly did he love
To lisp his hymns and pray
He is an Angel now
In the bright world above
And strikes & golden harp

In bliss, and joy, and love.
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Farewell my blessed one,
This last fond kiss receive.
Be calm my bursting heart,
For him I should not grieve.
Narcissa M. Lawton
Thomas Co., Ga., Sept. 4, 185)

Narcissa's poetry contains three poems dealing with
the death of a child. "On the Death of Little Benny," is
one; "The Death Bed," is a second; a third poem has no
title. "The Death Bed," no doubt was written about Benjamin
" since it refers to a male child and Benjamin was the only

known male child in the family who died.
The death bed

The earth looked beautiful and fair
That mournful sabbath even.
And proudly rolled the harvest moon

Through the calm azure heaven.

The air was laden with perfume,
Of indian summer's flowers,
And sweetly flying minstrels sang,

From lovely vine draped bowers.

The trees were clothed in silver sheen,
And through the casement streaming,
The yellow light fell all around,

In softened radience gleeming.
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And lovingly it glanced upon,
A little couch where lying,

With quivering breath and stifled sigh,
A lovely child was dying.

In dull and torpid state he lay,
And painful was his sleeping,
And fondly hovering round him there,

Were anxious watchers weeping.

Throughout the lingering hours of night
That fatal sleep unbroken
No longer could that sweet voice sound

Nor words by him be spoken.

When daylight dawned upon the earth,
No joy by it was given,

For he the beautiful and bright,
Had winged his flight to heaven.

Oh rest thee lovely one beneath
The trees where birds are singing.
And where the wild flowers bloom around,

Their gentle fragrancn flinging.

This is Narcissa's untitled poem which she may have

written to commemorate the death of her son Benjamin.
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Far-far into that spirit land
1 see a little smiling band
And hear sweet lingering notes of song

From many a warbling infants tongue.

Those strains divine how passing sweet
But faster quick my pulses beat
One little form I there descry

One Loving glance has met mine eye.

I see thee in they bright attire,
1 hear thee strike thy golden lyre.
Love, 1'd not have thee here again,

To suffer in this world of pain.

Then let they little fingers sweep
Thy lute strings, breathe her music deep.
Thy spirit home gleams very bright,
In yonder crystal spheres of light

Strike, strike, sweet love those blessed strains,
Pour forth they love to him who reigns,
To him in whose bright diadem,

Thou has become another jem.

On November 5, 1853, soon after the death of Benjamin,
Emma Lenora was born. This girl, who was known as Lona, was

the only child we know of who was born at Summer Oaks plan-

Lona was the last child born to A.B. and Narcissa.



For Lona, Narcissa wrote a poem which she entitled "To My

Babe."

To My Babe

Sweet one on my bosom lying,
kS Sometimes smiling sometimes sighing,
o Whilest the daylight hour is dying,
: Art thou dreaming love of bliss?
Are the angels talking to thee
Of that brighter land of glory
Are they smiling as they woo thee

i To live in their happiness?

yE See her rosy lips are parting,
| Oer her features smiles are darting,
|; Dimples to her cheeks are starting,
Where the angels stndped to kiss.
i On her cheek the print grows deeper,
(: To the view of that young sleeper,

Is unclosed a vision sweeter,

1
I' Than the worldlings dream of bliss.

But her smile of joy is leaving,
And her tiny bosom heaving,
G Shews her tender spirit grieving,

L As the future looms in sight.
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Dost thou dream of coming sorrow

Far into the distant marrow

Is thy young heart filled with terror
And entombed thy visions bright?

Come lay thy cheek against mine dearest

Ope those azure eyes the clearest,

Smooth that snowey brow the fairest,
Where the sunny ringlets curl.

If angels love my little Lona,

And kissing leave their impress on her,

She surely is a lovely flower,

My darling little girl.

Land lot number 124 was part of the land A.B. first
purchased in Thomas County. An acquaintance with its
location is important to our understanding of where Summer
Oaks plantation was and it is an especially important part
of our effort to locate the site of the plantation house.

A map showing lot 124 is shown in figure 1l in this report.

Through lot 124 a main local road ran generally south-
west to northeast, from Monticello, Florida, to Grooverville
in Brooks County, Georgia. Today, it is a blacktop state
road number 133. Near the south end of lot 124 is a cross-
road corner where Nine Mile Post Road crosses state road
133, In appearance this crossroad corner looks very much

like the corner where Laﬁtcnville once stood in South Caraling.
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During the decades of the eighteen-forties and eighteen-
fifties, a small settlement was located at the place where
that corner is now. Prior to 1849 the place was called
Ramsey Station; from 1849 tc 1859 a United States Post
Office was located there and the place was called Station;
by 1908 it was identified as Aucilla. At this corner,
December 2, 1853, A.B. sold five acres of land to J. T.
Herring and S. Manning, a business firm in Thomas County.
According to.tha deed, the property sold contained a
"Store house and dwelling and out buildings." He sold
" it for $100 or $20 an acre. Witnesses were J. A. Mallett
and John N. Dugger. The clerk who signed the entry in the
records was Jared Everitt.a

In the summer of 1854, Alexander's oldest daughter,
Mary Jane, was merried to David Montague Laffitte nf_South
Carolina. On June 17, a contract was signed between A.B.
and his daughter. In the contract Mary Jane gave up her
claim to any property she had coming to her through the
marriage contract between her parents Alexander Benjamin
Lawton and Elizabeth Mary Brisbane, and tranéferred the
ownership of that property to her father. In return, she
received assurance that she would be one of her father's
equal heirs. Mary Jane was twenty-two years old when she
signed the contract.

On June 19 another contract was signed. This one in-

volved A.B., Mary Jane and Mary Jane's intended husband
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David Montague Laffitte. The purpose of this contract was
to provide separate property for Mary Jane from any property
she might inherit. 1In part, the contract provided, "...all
sum or sums of money that may be paid over or be received
through Alexander J. Lawton of the State of South Carolina,
trustee of the estate of the grandmother of the said Mary
Jane...in the right of the said Mary Jane, shall be in-
vested in the purchase of a young female slave or slaves
which said slave or slaves together with their natural in-

crease shall be and remain to the said Mary Jane as her
l‘lg

' separate property... Although she was not identified by

name, the grandmother mentioned here must have been Mary
Jane's maternal grandmother Mary Ann Mosse Brisbane who

died forty days before this contract was signed. Mary Jane's
paternal grandmother lived another three years. Another
provision of the contract appointed A.B. as trustee of

Mary Jane's property and gave him control of it.

A year later, on June 28, 1855, Alexander Benjamin's
second daughter, Martha, signed a contract with him. In
return for ten dollars and assurance she would receive a
share as one of the heirs to her father's estate, Martha
granted to him all her rights to property that would come
to her from the marriage contract between him and her mother,
Elizabeth Mary Brisbane Lawton.ln Martha was twenty-one
years old when she made this contract. What motivated

Martha to give up her inheritance we do not yet know.
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By the year 1856 the family must have been well estab-
lished in Thomas County, on Summer Oaks plantation which
then contained 1,559 acres. They had lived there four
years. However, early in that year the family suffered a
loss. Mary Jane, who married David Montague Laffitte, gave
birth to her first child, a girl who was named Mary Edla
Laffitte. On February 6, 1856, this child, the first grand-
child of A.B., died and was buried in the cemetery of
Lebanon church, a Methodist church located within a half
mile of the plantation house, on land surrounded by Summer
" Oaks plantation. On May 1, Mary Jane Lawton Laffitte died
and was buried beside her daughter in Lebanon cemetery.
Mary Jane was twenty-three years old.

Approximately one year later, on May 23, 1857,
Alexander Benjamin's mother, Jane Mosse Lawton, died and
was buried in the cemetery at Lawtonville, South Carolina.
Whether A.B. inherited any property from his mother we have
not yet discovered.

When Mary Jane Lawton and David Montague Laffitte
were married in the summer of 1854, they sigﬁed marriage
contracts that provided separate ownership of property for
Mary Jane. Nevertheless, after the death of Mary Jane and
her child Mary Edla, David Montague Laffitte claimed to be
the heir to property that would have come to his child. He
sued A.B. in the Superior Court of Thomas County. The suit

was settled July 30, 1858. Alexander Benjamin agreed to
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pay Laffitte $2.ﬁﬂﬂ on the first of January 1859, 1860
and 1861. Laffitte was identified in the suit as being
from Jefferson County, Florida, which was immediately
over the Florida border less than a mile south of the
Pllntltinn.ll
In 1859 A.B. increased the number of tillable acres
in the plantation by a land trade with a neighbor, Cassandra
C. Tillman. Exanination of a map showing the area and of ‘
the deed describing the land suggests that A.B. traded

swamp and lake property for land on which crops could be

" grown. He lost nothing by trading away the lake property

since he had access to the same lake from other property.
Land involved in the trade is described in figure 4., Summer
Oaks plantation contained 1,556 acres after the trade with

Cassandra Tillman,

FiguEa 4. Land traded with Cassandra C.
Tillman. Deed dated August 6, 1859.

This is what Lawton gave.

Fifty-four acres on the Northeast
corner of land lot 123 lying on
and in Lake Linton, adjoining
lands of C. C. Tillman and Moses
Linton on the East and Korth.

This is what Lawton got.

Fifty-one acres on land lot 107.
Start at the Sovthwest corner of
#107 and run East along Lawton's
land line for 42% chains in length,
then go North for .12 chains then

- West for 42 chains, then South
for 12 chains to the point where
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the measurement first commenced.

This joins land owned by Josiah

Everett on the West.
Note: A surveyor's chain measurement equals sixty-six
feet in length.

The land trade with Cassandra Tillman occurred in
August. Less than three months later, in October 1859,
A.B. increased the size of Summer Oaks again. This time,
he purchased 520 acres from James Connell, as shown in

figure 5.

Figure 5. Land purchased in Thomas Count}'.]'3

Deed dated October 31, 1859.

Purchased from James Connell:
All of land lot 154 excepting 11l acres pre-
viuualy sold to Joshua B. Everette on Feb-
ruary 12, 1855 on the Eastern end of said lot.

The Western half of fractional lot 169 con-
taining 92% acres.

In the Southeast corner of lot 123, 40
acres that Connell bought from Moses Linton
on January 20, 1849.
Also 8 acres in the Southwest corner of
lot 122 down to the low water mark on the
lake and adjoining land of Joshua B. Everette
on the East.
The total amount of land purchased here was 520 acres.

Cost: $§5,200 which equals $10 an acre

The United States census was taken on June 1, 1860,
in Thomas County. It gives us a description of the family
then living at Summer Oaks plantatinn.lﬂ See figure 6.

On February 9, 1961, A.B. made a purchase of land

that brought Summer Oaks plantation to the largest size it



Figure 6-CENSUS OF THE UNITED STATES TAKEN JUNE 1, 1860
Tuomas_County Georcia, Pace 49, HousenoLd Numprr 386
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would ever attain. He bought five acres from Anderson
Peeler. The five acres, described in the deed as the
Methodist Church lot, were located in land lot 124 sur-
rounded by Lawton's land on the North, East, and South
and by the public road leading from Grooverville, Georgia,
to Monticello, Florida, on the Northwest. The deed to the
property contained this provision: "....with the reserve
of the burying ground to the use of those interested by
the relatives now interred therein...."15 Alexander
Benjamin paid $100 for the five acres.

We believe this Methodist Church lot and burying
ground was the site referred to in later documents as Leb-
anon church and cemetery. We examined the site in 1983.
We found, in good condition, a gravestone for Mary Jane
and one for Mary Edla. We also found the remains of three
grave-size piles of bricks arranged side by side as if to mark
the graves of three members of the same family. We are
not yet sure who the three people were.

One witness whose name appears on the dged to the
Methodist Church lot was Josiah A. Everette, a good friend
and close neighbor to the family. Everette owned an adjoin-
ing plantation where the plantation house still stands.

Not far from the house is the plantation cemctery. When
Alexander Benjamin bought the Methodist church lot and
burying ground, he may have considered that he was providing

a similar plantation cemetery for Summer Oaks, as it was
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customary in those days to do. Acquiring the cemetery
would have been especially important to him because his
daughter and granddaughter were buried there and, perhaps,
his son Benjamin was buried there too.

In the Spring of 1861 Summer Oaks plantation contained
2,081 acres. For that land A.B. had paid $10,700 or an
average of $5.14 an acre. Obviously, the purchase of this
land expended most of the $11,500 he got from Josiah Flournoy
when he sold the Baker County land in 1852, for §7.30 an acre.

The Fall season of 1860 and the Spring of 1861 must

" have been happy times for the Lawtons of Summer Oaks plan-

tation. Summer Oaks was one of the largest plantations in
Thomas County, Georgia. Alexander Benjamin and Narcissa
had good reason to feel they were successful in the way
other members of their family had been successful for a
century.

Springtime was planting time on the plantation and
Alexander Benjamin probably tried to ignore his various
aches and pains as he went about his daily business of
seeing that necessary work got done as it should and see-
ing that the plantation manager, his son Alex, learmed all
he should learn about managing.

We know very little about Alexander Benjamin's physical
condition during his lifetime. In Marcissa's poetry there
is a poem entitled "My Husband," in which she prays that

he might be restored to good health. If we reason that
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writing a poem requires a long period of contemplation and
repetition of various experimental word arrangements until
the poet is able to create cne that is satisfying, we might
deduce that Alexander Benjamin's illness did not begin and
end suddenly but, instead, lasted long encugh for Narcissa

to write about it.

e
B e e

e
| S

My Husband

A heart to sympathise,
In every way with me,
A judgement clear and good,

From prejudices free.

A mind by nature far
Superior to my own;
And one who will reprove my faults,

With kind and gentle tone.

A eye from whose dark depths,
Beams forth a loving light,
A brow where sits enthroned

An intelect that's bright.

Who has an ear not deaf,
To sorrow's pleading cry,
But has an ever ready hand,

The orphan'’'s tear to dry.



And can T kneel and say,
I thank thee gracious heaven,
Though all unworthy I may be,

Still this to me is given.

While still on bended knees,
And in my silent room,
Dear Father I would humbly crave

From thee another boon.

Tis not for honors great
And not for glittering wealth,
But oh, be pleased to hear my prayer

And grant him once more health.

Now spare him in his prime,

Let feelings as of yore

Come bounding thrnuﬁh his weakened frame,
And all his strength Testore.

On Thursday, May 16, A.B. felt badly enough to agree

that a doctor should come to see him. The family summoned
Dr. Oliveros. Any one of several medical doctors might
have been called; Dr. Codfrey was a close neighbor.
Dr. Oliveros lived about seven miles directly west of the
plantation in a community called Glasgow. He advertised
in the local newspaper describing hkimself as a physician
and surgeon. He came to the house on Thursday, treated

A.B. and returned home.

52
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On Friday, May 17, Dr. Olivercs came to see A.B. again.
After treating him, Oliveros went home. By Saturday, May 18,
Dr. Oliveros knew that A.B. was very seriously ill; when
he came to the house on that day, Dr. Oliveros came prepared
to stay overnight. Through Sunday, Monday, Tuesday, Wednes-
day, Dr. Oliveros treated A.B. day and night, but nothing
could be done to restore the health for which Narcissa had
prayed. By Thursday morning, May 23, 1861, Alexander Ben-
jamin Lawton, master of Summer Oaks plantation was deaé+1ﬁ

The newspaper Southern Enterprise was published in

" Thomasville every Wednesday. On Wednesday, May 29, it

carried an obituary for A.B.

Ubituaryl?

Departed this life on the morning of the
23rd of May, Capt. A, B. Lawton in the 53d year
of his age.

Capt. Lawton was originally from South Caro-
lina, but had resided in this county (Thomas) for
eight years, during which time his life was zeal-
ously devoted in the advancement and prosperity
of her welfare. Well may our county morn the
loss of so good a man. He was a consistent member
of the Raptist church and during his last hours
of consciousness spoke frecly of Jesus. He said
'he had no fear to die.' FHe leaves an affectionate
family =snd numerous friends to mourn their loss.
Of him it can be said ===

'Wone knew him but to love him
Mone named him but to praise.’

& T'riend

On the following wedncsday, June 5, the paper published

this tribute:
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'TRIBUTE OF RESPECT.®

At the regular meeting of the Volunteer Company
at Grooverville, on Saturday, May 25th, the following
Tribute of Respect was unanimously adopted:

That since our last meeting death has removed a
valued and esteemed member, our Captain, A. B. Lawton.
In all relations he was remarkable for the manly
inteﬁrity of his character - blending with it a
frank, ingenious, and friendly disposition. His
memory will be long cherished, not only as the
Captain of his Company, but by the many warm and
sincere friends left among its members. As but
an inadequate expression of regret; be it

Resolved, That as a Company, we do deeply
deplore the loss of an inestimable Captain and that
in his loss this Company has been deprived of a
head which it will find hard to fill.

Resolved, That this Company do sympathize with
the bereaved family in their irreparahfzplusn; and
their loss, we sincerely trust, has been his cver-
lasting gain.

Resolved, That this Tribute be published in
the Thomasville papers.

John L. Linton

Thomas Groover Committee
Henry Ramsey

According to Narcissa Melissa, Alexander Benjamin left

a will., Writing in her diary, April 16, 1862, she said:

I have just laid aside the last will and
testament of my beloved husband, my tears
blinded me too much to read any more so I
locked it up ir my rosewood box. They

never carried out the instructions of my
husband in the division of the property 19
and 1 have indeed but little to support me...

Alexander Benjamin died at the age of fifty-one. Why his

instructions were never carried out is one of the mysteries

we are not yvet able to solve. After ths death of A.B. steps
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were taken rapidly to begin dismantling the plantation.
The Court of Thomas County appointed a committce of local
citizens to take an inventory of all the property of A.B.
and to put a value on it. An inventory was taken on June 12,
1861. It was an inventory of land, goods and chnttels.zu
The committee consisted of Josiah Everette, Wiley Blewet,
Moses Linton, Allen Hagen and J. A. Malette,

The inventory showed that the value of the plantation

consisted of the following:

Land, 2,084 acres at 59 an acre.....ccccuvssass £18,756
CREEEREE: TR BLEWEE - o vwwsstw i ain s e n s s s 50,000
Ggoda llllllllllllllllllllllll LR I L e I 1n ! ﬂnz

Total value $79,158

Our accounting of acreage in the plantation totals
2,081 acres while the inventory totals 2,084 acres. We can
only guess at why there is a difference of three acres. A
copy of the inventory appears in this report as Appendix 2,

On July 18, 1861, less than sixty days after the
death of their father, the two oldest boys, Alex and Win-
born left home to join the army of the Confederate States
of America. Alex was twenty yeers of age and Winny was
eighteen, Why both of them decided to leave at this
crucizl time when they were needed at home is one of those
questions we cannot yet znswer. Alex was the plantation
manager; Winny certainly was old znough to be of significant
help. " Their departure left Bobby, only fourteen years of

age, 2s the oldest family male at home.
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If the wartime cause of the Confederacy had been in
danger, we might better understand why Alex and Winny left
home to fight. However, that was not the case; quite the
contrary. On the day they left, opening skirmishes took
place in the battle of Manassas, Virginia, a notable
victory for the South. Two days after they left, July 20,
1861, the Congress of the Confederate States of America
first convened in Richmond, Virginia, having moved there
from Montgomery, Alabama, in order to be near the battle-

field. According to a description by President Jefferson

" Davis, "The Cenerals, like myself, were well content with

what had been done."?! At the time Alex and Winny left
home, the South was strong and confident; Summer Oaks was
weak and leaderless.

Respornsibility for managing sﬁmmer Oaks now fell upon
Narcisca Melissa, a poetess. Without a husband, without
the help of either of her two clder sons, she was left to
manage a disintegrating plantation. She felt alone, con-
fused, and powerless. In desperation, she reached out for

help in the only direction she knew, back home to Scuth

Caru]‘.inn.22

Grooverville feptember 29, 1861

My dear brother, Ko doubt you and dear sister
Savah thought very czirangely of my not writing to you
befora this, but the only exzuze that I can render is
ny deep troubles and perplexities. I have no one now
to attend to tals placs but on Overseer, who enly

e s 8

atterds to the out deor businecs, or plantation
matters. You know that brother Joe Lawton is the
executor of cthe estate and he is in Virginia and

my two oldest boys Alexander and Winborn, are with
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him. They are in Tom Cobbs Legion, theg have been
gone about two months. My oldest son who is at

home is only fourteen years of age. He is my only
protector, and indecd he is very useful to me, but
there are other things that he nor an oversecr can
not do., I have written to Davant and Lawton, to
advance money on cotton, to pay confederate taxes
and they cannot do it. I have tried several men

who used to buy cotton out here, and they say that
they are unable to do it now. 1 have been told

that if I do not pay the taxes, that the property
would be levied on. I have no one to advise me

what to do. My dear old Father has kindly offered
to render me any assistance or advice that I may
need, but he is so old that I dislike to trouble
him. And indeed my dear brother you know that I
shrink from annoying or disturbing any one with

my troubles. I am now going to make a request of
you to try and get the money advanced on five bales
of cotton, I just want enough money to pay taxes.
You know other men of business besides Davant & Son
who may be willing to buy or to advance money on
cotton. My dear brother if you will only attend to
this for me you will relieve my mind of a great

deal of trouble. Tell sister S that I will write

to her, I received her kind letter., It was some
congsolation to find that 1 had friends to sympathize
with me in my hour of dcep distress and bereavement,
Give my love to each member of your dear family, and
accept the same from each of us.

Your sister, N M Lawton

It is immaterial to me at what price the cotton is
sold for so as I can get the money to relieve me.
Do my dear brother write to me imrediately and dir-
ect to Grooverville. N M Lawton

Her brother, Winborn, responded and on October 11,
23

Crooverville Oct 1lth 1861

My dear brother, I received your letter of the
6th inst, and was glad te hear from you. We are all
quite well at this time and hope that you and yours
may be the same. Ve received a great fright on
yestevday. Our overseer rushed into the house and
told us that he had bad news to tell us, he had
heard that Lincolns fleet had taken St, Marks, and
the lighthousc, which is about forty miles from here,
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and the governor of Florida had sent despatches to
call all the men in the country around to prevent
their landing, our overscer among the rest had te go,
as the governor was afraid that they would take
Tallehasse. Sc we were left here last night in a
terrible state of suspense but early this worning our
minds were relieved as our overseer returned and told
us that it was impossible for them to do us any harm.
About forty of them had landed from the blockading
squadron and were just skulking around the coast, but
they went back to their vessels very quickly. The
coast I believe is very well guarded.

You were right in saying I was mistaken about
the taxes. A neighbor told me on yester evening,
that it was the state taxes, and not the confederate
that I had to pay at this time. I shall thankfully
accept of your kind offer of the lcan of a hundred
dollars, as what I need money for is to pay taxes.
1 have just received a letter from my boys in Virginia,
they are in Yorktown, they wrote me that they had just
returned from a scouting expedition, but had not come
near enough to the yankees to catch them but they had
seen some at a distance. I wish my dear brother that
you would come and see me, and if you could only bring
your family with you I would be oh so glad to see them.
Give my love to Sarah and each of the children, and
accept the sare from your affectionate sicter N M Lawton

On December 27, another step was taken to dismantle the
plantation. The slaves were divided among the heirs to the
estate. There were eight heirs, Narcissa and seven children.
The slaves were put into eight groupz, approximately equal
in dollar value at $6,200, each group called a share. Then,
according to the record, this is what happened:

...the shares were numbered 1 2 3 4 etc and

were assigned to the distributecs in the following

marner, to wit, the names of the distributees were

written on a piece of paper and placed in a hat.

Trhe numbers were written on ancther piece of paper

and put in ancther hat. The hats were both well shaken.

A nane was the: drawm from the hat containing the

ina the numbezs an in that manner continued till

all were drawn,..®
(see Appendix 3)
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THe next day, on December 28, Summer Oaks suffered
the ultimate indignity; there was an auction; supplies,
tools, equipment, livestock, perishable and personal prop-
erty at the plantation were sold. Forty-two neighbors made
purchases. Along with others, Narcissa was required to
bid for whatever she kept. She bought equipment and live-
stock. William Stegall bought her piano for eighty dollarl.25
The value of the goods sold was recorded as $6,491.22. A
copy of the auction record appears in this report as Appen-
dix &,

Our best record for the year 1862 comes from Narcissa's
diary. Although her diary probably was longer, we have only
the months from March through December. On March 9, she
recorded that Winny and Tommy went to Montecello in the buggy.
This tells us that Winny had returned home from the army,
but he was gone again soon. On March 27, Narcissa wrote
that Winny received a letter inviting him to Albany, Georgia,
to join his uncle Joseph's regiment. The uncle was Colonel
Winborn Joseph Lawton, brother to Alexander Benjamin, and
commander of the second Georgia Cavalry Regiment. He also
was appointed by the ccurt as guardian of Alexander Benjamin's
minor children. The diary tells us much about NHarcissa's
view of her situation under steadily worsening wartinme
conditions and gives us a few details about life at the
plantation.

A portion of the land was reserved for the use of

Narcissa to provide for her support. It was referred to as
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her Dower Property and included 689 acres or approximately
one third of the land in the plantation. Land other than
the Dower Property was sold at an auction by Josiah Everette,
administrator of the estate. The sale tock place at the

door of the Thomas County courthouse in Thomasville on the
morning of the first Tuesday in November, 1863. These sales,
as recorded in three separate documents, are shown below in
figures 7, 8, 9.

Figure 7. Land sold to John T. Lyons
Deed dated January 16, 1864.

Part of lot #125 (the William Peeler place)
containing 247 acres.

26

Sale price: $4,075.00 which equals $16.50 an acre

Figure 8., Land sold to John T, Lyaniz?

Deed dated January 16, 1864,

Part of lot #153 (the Robert Hurst place)
containing 227 acres.

Sale price: $3,745.00 which equals $16,50 an acre

Figure 9. Land sold to Archibald T. HcIntyrlza

(the Connell place)
Deed dated March 19, 1884

All of lot #154 exceptin% 111 acres scld to Joshua B.
Everette by James Coanell on February 12, 1855 on the
Eastern end of said lot.

The western half of fractiomzl lot #1169 containing
92-1/2 acres.

Forty acres bought cof Moses Linton by James Connell
on the 20th of January 1849, lying in the South East
corner of lot #123.

Eight acres in the South West cormer of lot #122

being all of lots #1127 and #123 South of the Lake
down to low water mark on the lake and adjoining

lands of Joshua B. Everette on the East,

In all, a tetal of 520 acres.
Sale price: §15,906.80 which eguals $30.59 an acre
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Our record of these land sales is not yet complete.
The total land acreage accounted for in figures 7, 8, 9,
is 994 acres. When added to the Dower Property of 689 acres,
the addition gives a total of 1,683 acres for which we can
account. Subtracted from the 2,08l acres we know were in
the plantation, this total leaves 398 acres which we can
not yet trace.

In the records of the Thomas County Court there appears
a statement of account furlthe estate describing income
from the sale of plantation land along with certain other
29 A copy of that statement
appears in this report as Appendix 5.

Narcissa Melissa lived on her Dower Property for several
years, However, by 1870 the time had come to sell the last
of the plantation land. On August 29, Alex and Robert, both
of whom were living in Orange County, Florida, gave their
power of attorney to a lawyer, Walter Gwynn, who was married
to their half sister Martha, and who was to represent them
in the land sale. The document which conferred their power
of attorney is important to us because in it the property
to be sold was described in this way:

Six hundred and forty (640) acres more or less

on which was situated the hcmestead or residence

of the said Alexander B. Lawton deceased...and

which was set apart as the dower of our mother

MRarcissa M. Lawton, 3

The power of attorney docwrunent tells us the plantation

house was located in the Dower Froperty but does not tell us
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where the Dower Property was. Fortvnately, we have another
document which does tell us. On November 23, 1870, the
Dower Property was sold to J. L. Simkins of Jefferson County,
Florida. 1In the record of that sale, the property was
described, See figure 10 for a description of the sale.

See figure 11 for a map showing lot #124 and the Dower

Property in Thomas County.

Figure 10. Sale of the Dower Prnpirty31

Deed dated November 23, 1870
Land description
the whole of lot £124 comprising 486 acres
51 acres of lot #107
152 acres of lot #153 taken off the north side.
Total number of acres sold, 689,
Sale price: $1,000 which equals $1.45 an acre
Ag she thought about the approach of November 23,
1870, it must have seemed to Narcissa Melissa as if that
day would be one of the saddest of all days., She and four
of her seven children were to sign a document that would
pass from family ownership the last piece of land that was
part of their plantation. Formally and finally it would
mark the end of Summer Oaks, seventeen years, eleven months
and twenty-three days after it began. Alex, Winnie and Bobby
were to be represented by their attorney, who as Martha's
husband, was also their brother-in-law., Martha, Clara, Lona
and Tommie were present to sign fer themselves. As they

gathered in the office of the attorney in Monticello, Florida,

Narcissa probably thought back te the good years at Summer
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Fipure 11. Lot #124 and the Dower Property in
Thomas County, Georgia
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Oaks, years when the family of nine was all together, when
the children were growing up, when crops were bountiful,
the mar<et was dependsble, the plantation was prosperous.
She and A.B. had left the comfort of South Carolina and
gone to the frontier searching for opportunity. They had
worked hard for their plantation. Now, looking back, she
may have wondered why they were not able to complete doing
what three generations of Lawtons before them had done over
a period of a hundred years.

Perhaps in respect for her position as head of the

" family, the children asked their mother to sign the docu-

ment first, She probably paused a moment because she really
did not want to do it. But, finally she accepted the pen
that was offered to her by the attorney, took a deep breath
to steady her hand zndé signed her name: N (for Harcissa)

M (for Melissa) Lawteon. And Summer Oaks ended.
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PART 1II
NOTES

lTheodnre Dehon Mathews was married to Mary Elizabeth
Lawton, ﬁﬂuhgtlt sister of Alexander Benjamin., In this
letter, he wrote to Winborn Benjamin Lawton, who was married
to Mathews' sister Sarah. Winborn Benjamin was also the
older brother of Narcissa Melissa. A copy of his letter
was provided by Thomas 0. Lawton, Jr.

2Enrnlyn L. Harrell, Kith and Kin (Macon, Georgia:
Mercer University Press, 1984), pp. 190-198.

3Eaker County, Georgia, Superior Court, June 5, 1850,
Book 11, page 433.

ﬁHarreLl. Kith and Kin, p. 192.

sﬂaker County, Ceorgia, Superior Court, October 16,
1853, Book 14, page 41.

EThomu County, Georgia, Thomas Court Deed Racnrd,
Book F, page 176,

?Thumas County, Georgia, Thomas Court Deed Record,
Book F, page 255.

aThomas County, Georgia, Thomas Court Deed Record,
Book F, page 537.

gThnmas County, Georgia, Thomas Court of Ordinary,
General Index L-Z, 1826-1939, page 529.

Thomas County, Georgia, Thomas Court Deed Record,
Book G, paze 20.

11Thnmas County, CGeorgia, Thomas Court Deed Record,
Book H, page 424,

Thomas County, Georgia, Thomzs Court Deed Record,
Bock R, pagzs 615.

13Thﬂn35 County, Georgiz, Thomss Court Deed Record,
Book M, pag= 627.
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thnited States Census 1860, Thomas County, Georgia,
page 49, Household Number 386,

15Th0m35 County, Georgia, Thomes Court Deed Record,
Book 1, page 254.

lGThomaﬁ County, Ceorgia, Thomas Court of Ordinary
Generzl Index L-Z, 1826-1939. The index shows a bill for
services presented by Dr. Olivercs to the estate for payment.
A copy of that bill appears as Appendix 1 in this report.
See Appendix.

1?The Southern Enterprise, Thomasville, CGeorgia,
Wednesday, May Z9, 1861.

lEThe Southern Enterprise, Thomasville, Georgia,
Wednesday, June 5, 186I.

lgniary of Narcissa Melissa Lawton, March 9 to
December 28, 1862. The original diary is in the possession

" of Kathryn Lawton of Oviedo, Florida.

2DThcmas County, Georgia. Judge of Probate Court,
General Index L-Z, 1826-1939, page 413. A copy of the
inventory appears as Appendix 2 in the report. See Appendix.

?ljefferson Davis, The Rise and Fall of the Confed-
erate Government, 2 vols. (bhew York: 1homas Yoseloff,
Publisner, 1Y38 reprint edition), wvol. 1, p. 360.

2 . R
2“ﬂarcissa Ifelissa Lawton to ¥Hinboxnm Benjamin Lawton,
September 29, 1861, A copy of this letter was provided
by Thomas 0. Lawton, Jr.

23Narcissa Melissa Lawton to Winborn Benjamin Lawton,
QOctober 11, 1861. A copy of this letter was providad by
Thomas 0. Lawton, Jr.

zaThomaa Countv, Ceorgia, Thowmas Court of rdinary,
General Index L-Z, 1826-1939, p. 215, A copy of this docu-
ment appears as Appendix 3 in this report. See Appendix.

ESTthas'Eaunty. Georgia, Thomas Court of Ordinary
General Index L-Z, 1525-1939, p. 255. A copy of this docu-
ment appears as Appendix &4 in this report. See Appendix,
2E'Thﬂrr-.as County, Georgia, Thomas Court Deed Record,
Book ¥, page 135.

EfThomas County, Ceorgia, Thomas Court Deed Racord,
Bock K, page 134,
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2E'I'humas County, Georgia, Thomas Court Deed Record,
Book K, page 73.

nghﬂmas County, Georgia, Thomas Court of Grdinary,
General Index L-Z, 1326-1939, page 263. A copy of the
statement appears in this report as Appendix 5.

3":"'Tl'uums_as County, Georgia, Thomas Court Deed Record,
Book L, page 572.

31Th0m35 County, Georgia, Thomas Court Deed Record,
Boock L, page 574.
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PART IV
LOCATION AND DESCRIPTION OF SUMIER OAKS PLANTATION

We are still searching for the site of the plantation
house at Surmer Oaks. Although we think we can locate
it approximately, we would like to he more precise in
our judgement. As yet, we have found no reliable descrip-
tion of where it was or how it looked.

We know the residence was located in the Dower Property.
Narcissa lived there until perhaps as late as 1870. A map
showing the location of that property appears as figure 1l
in this report.

A wap of Thomas County dated 1908 is on display in
the Thomas County Historical Museum; we have found no -
earlier map. The 1908 map shows roads through the Dower
Property in the same place they are in today. Although it
also shows the location of several buildings, they are not
standing today so we have little way of kncwing if any of
those buildings formerly belonged to Summer Ozks planta-
tion. Until we find an earlier map, we must speculate that
roads appearing on the 1908 map ware in existence in 1860,

however risky that speculation may be.

68
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Running through the plantation Dower Property, the
main road was probably the one from Monticello, Florida,
on the south to Grooverville, Georgia, on the northeast
and then farther to Groover Station on the Atlantié and
Gulf railway. This main road was probably the road we
now identify as state highway number 133, On several oc-
casions, Narcissa wrote in her diary as if her house were
situated close to this main road. These are some excerpts
from her diary which may suggest this close location.

July 21 "Martha went in the stage which came up to the

" house for her this afternoon at four o'clock from Groover

Station from there she expects to go to Atlanta to spend
one or two months."

August 1 "Today a regiment passed here on thelr way to
the seat of the war."

October 5 "This morning I was surprised o see a number
of soldiers going by our avenue. Bobby walked down to
inquire what was their destination as they were going

the opposite way from that which they usualily went. They
told him they were on the way to Jacksonville, Florida,

to retake it if they could."™

October 12 "Some soldiers came to me tenight after supper
to beg me to send them in =y wagon to Grooverville., 1
went out and spoke to them and gave them tuo bottles of
wine znd some cold supper I had in the house. Poor fellows,

they wvere very grateful to me for it, I losned them my
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wagon and an extra horse. They are going to protect Savannah
as it ie daily expecting an attack from the enemy."

These comments by Narcissa indicate the house was
situated along the main road and was close enough to encour-
age convenient notice and communication between people in
the house and people in the traffic using the road. How
close would that be? Perhaps one hundred yards? If we
suppose the house was no more than one hundred yards from
highway 133, then today as we walk or drive along that high-

way through the property, at some point we probably are with-

‘ in one hundred yards of where KRarcissa sat as she wrote in

her diary.

Our only information about the size of the plantation
house comee from the inventory taken in June 1861 (sece Appen-
dix 2). Househeld furniture was evaluated in nine rooms and
the value listed for each. One of the nine rooms was a
pantry. A kitchen was listed in addition to the nine rooms
and was probably in 2 room separate from the plantation house.
In the list of nine rooms, the pantry was number five. The
house may have had four rooms downstairs, four rocms up-
stairs, a pantry built on the ground floor at the rear of
the house and a kitchen separate to the reazr of the pantcry.

A similar house belonged to Josiah Everette, a friend,
close neighbor, and sdniristrator of the es*ate of flexandar
Benjamin, On Septemhber 2, 1852, Narcisse wrote in her diary,
"I rode over to Mr. Everastte's today. Clara went with me.

We spent quite a pleasant morning there." A picture of
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Josiah Everette standing in front of his housc is in the
files of the Thomas County Historical Museum., His house
has been well carved for and is a beautiful home today. It
appears to be a house that could have had nine rooms as
the Lawton's house had and probahly provides for us the
best example we have of what the plantation house at
Summer Oaks looked like.

Hector Irving Cook was born in the year 1903. His
parents lived in a house situated neaf the corner of

highway 133 and Nine Mile Post Road. His father, also

" named Hector Cook, began farming in 1879 on land, part of

which, had been in the Lawton plantation. According to
Cook, his grandparents who lived on the same place before
his parents, remembered the Lawton family.

Until he was nineteen years old and again several
years later, Irving Cook lived and fzrmed on his father's
land. Jane and Gerald Church met Cook at his home in

Boston, dnorgia, during December 1953, and listened while

71

he described his early recollections about the neighborhood.

He wz=s well acquainted with the nearby cemetefy which he
had always known as the Lzwton cemetery. His father told
him that Mr. and Mrs. Lawton were buried under the piles
of bricks. He did not krow why there were three piles of
bricks rather than twe. Nearby, and marked by gravestones,

were the graves of an adult and a child belonging to the

Lawton family. Other pecple may have been buried there also,

but he did not know who they were.
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The crec: which crosses highway 133 just north of the
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corner was known to Cook as the old Lavton mill creek.
A large mill stone laid on the ground a few yards to the

west of the highway. Coock did not remerber a building

there but thke presence of the mill stone and a dam indicated

that a mill rust have been there at one tine. When we asked

Cook if the —ill stone is still there, he replied that it
probably is tecause it is too big for anyone to move.
Cook described a house, a barn, and a well that he

thought served the Lawton plantation. They were located

" east of the corner about a hundred yards on the north side

of Nine Mile Post Road. The house was called the old
Lawton house. It was shaped like the letter L with three
rooms in the long wing of the house, a kitchen and pantry
in the shert wing. The house wos very old. Coock and his
father tore it down so they could farm the land cn which
it sat.

Between the house and the road was a well, Cook
filled in tke well many years ago becausc he lost a mule
that fell irto it. '

Near the house and well was a very large barm. Cock
estimated that it wae at least seventy-five by sinty feet
in size. The barn was very cld and Cook eventually cculd
not use it so he tor2 it dosm. Cack said ke theugat this
was a barn that served the plantation béeauvse it was so

old and so large.
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We know the plantation had an overseer, and we suspect
the houne deseribed by Irving Cook was the overseer's house.
It deces not fit the description of a nine room house with a
separate kitchen and an avenue leading down to the main
road as we think the plantation house should be described.

Relics of the Lawton plantation as described by lector
Irving Cook are shown in figure 12 of this report.

Another impression of what the plantation was like may
be inferred from an examination of the inventory of lands,

goods and chattles taken in 1861. The inventory included

" seventy-two slaves., In 1860 there were eleven slave owners

in Thomas County who owned between 70 and 100 slaves.
"In 1860 there were 4,483 whites and of these 403 or one
out ¢f eleven ovmed slaves. Most of the prople who owned
slaves owned leéss than ten_"l The acreage in Summer Osaks
made it one of the largezt plantations in the county.
There were 265 head of livestock including mules, sheep,
c;ttle. hegs, horses and oxen. Machinery included three
sugsr beilers, one sugar mill, a cotton gin and a large
steam cngine. A readiug of the inventory leaves one with
the impression Summer Ozks was a large, well staffed, well
equippad working plantation.

This description, regrettably meager, is the best we

can provide fror our currant resesrch.
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PART IV
NOTES

lgil1iam Warren Rcgzers, Ante-Bellum Thomas County
1825-1861, (Tallahassee, Florida: Florida State University,
1963, p. 68-69,

ZHE have a letter written August 16, 1942, from
Sycamore, Ceorgia, bov Annie Karcissa Lawton Long to a
granddaughter of Winborn Theodore Lawton, In her letter
Annie gave a brief and highly fanciful description of ;
Summer Oeks plantation. Her lctter is the earliest

"written reference we nzve found that uses the name Summer

Oaks. Some of the information in the letter is factually
refutsd by the documented inventory we have noted. Other
claims by Annie are refuted by another original source
document. Accordinglv, we have not used her letter in
this part and mention it here only to record that we know
about the letter and its contents.
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PART V
WHERE IS ALEXANDER BENJAMIN LAWTCN?

Wherever his burial site was located, it was close
enough to be reached during a casual buggy ride. Om
June 28, 1861, Narcissa Melissa wrote in her diary: "This

has been an uncommonly hot day. 1 went to ride this evening

_ in the buggy with Bobby. I went to my dear husband's grave."

Where was A.B., buried? We have found no written eye-
witness report, no gravestone, no documentary material which
seems convincingly authentic leaving us assured after we
read it that we know the answer to our question. Ve have
circumstansial evidence from Nercissa Melissa, a suspect
account by Annie Marcissa Lawtor Long, and hearsay from
Irving Cook. Nevertheless, the bits of information when
pieced tesether may be taken to infer that A B. was buried
in the cemetery we think was Lebanon, and we find that in-
ference to be quite persuasivé.

On February 9, 1861, A.B, purchased the Methocdist Church
lot and buryiag ground. Could he have kncin that three
months later he would reed a site for his cwm burial? The

location cf thi2*t burvirs ground ac it was described in the

76
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deed can be intefpreted to fit the location of the cewetery
we have fournd where his daughter and grandchild and perhaps
his =on were buried. It seems reasonable to suppouse A.B.
would have wished to be buried next to them. But, was that
Lebanon cemetery?

Historian William Rogers describes Lebanon in this way,

William H. Ramsey, a Methodist pioneer resident,
moved intc the 2rea from Morth Carolina in 1832.
Ramsey developed a plantation southwest of Croover-
ville znd erected a brush-arbor near his hLome where
his family and slaves worshipped. When other Metho-
dists moved into the community, a log church was
built on the main rcad to St, Marks. The church
was named Lebanon and in the 1840's was made a
rtgular-monthli preaching appointment.

Grooverville became a trading center for cotton
and wes on the stage line from Thomasville to Troup-
ville. It seemed advantazeous to move Lebanon to
Crooverville, and in 1856 this uat done. The church
name was changed to Grooverville,

The Grooverville-Monticeilo road through the plantation

(present hizhway 133) was the road to St. Marks. Florida.

Merbers of the Ramsey family stilil live in the neigh-
borhood. 1. Claytoa Ramsey, a Ramsey family historiam, has
told us hic family is confident the old cemetery we have
leccated, where Mary Jane and Mary Edla were buried, was
Leltancn cemstery.

A letter written eightv-one vears after the fact by a
granddaught:r of A.B. contained a statement purporting to
tell where he was buried. This letter wmust be used cautiously
since much of what the writer said waz, at best, inexact.
After descriding the plantation, she arserted: "“The 0ld

Hount Lebanca Cemetery is ncar, where sleep our grandparents,
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and, ncarbv, the poor lonely slaves, many of whom died

: Disputing that assertion, other members

broken hearted.”
of the family have told us Marcissa Melissa was buried in
Oviedo, Florida.

Finally, we have the tastimony of Irving Cook, that
his father told him Mr. and Mrs. Lawton were buried be-
neath the piles cf bricks in thes old Lawton cemetary.

On the basis of the information we have now, we sur-

mise that: The Methodist Church lot and buying ground;

Lebanon church and cemetery; Mount Lebanon cemetery; and,

" 0ld Lawton cemetery, were all the same place and that place

is the cemctery relie to which Robert Lauder guided us in
the woods zlong highway 133.

Where was A.5. buried? We conjecture that in 1853
little Z2nny was buried in Lebanon cemelery; in 1856 first
Mery Eila and second Mary Jane were buried in Lebanon cemetery;
in 1861 Lebanon became the plantation cemetery for Summer
QOaks and, in May of that year, Alexander Benjomin Lawton
was buried there too.

But why are there three piles of bricks?lﬁhu lies buried
beneath thexm? The reports from 4Annie Leng and Irving Cook
sgree that A.B. and Nercissa are there. Could it be that
the th:ee piles of bricks mark the graves cf Alexander

Benjamin, Yareisen Melissa, and their son, Benjamin F.? 1f

that covld de, then why is there a gravestonz for Narcissae

in Oviedo, Floriaa?
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PART V
NOTES

lyilliam Warren Rogers, Ante-Bellum Thomas County 1825-
1861, (Tallahassec, Florida: Florida State University, 1963),
p. 835.

2Letter from Annie Narcissa Lawton Long to Clara Curtis
Lawton Lienhard, August 16, 1942, See note 2 at the end of
Part IV of this report for our comment on this letter,
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PART VI
DESCENDANTS OF THE SUMMER OAKS FAMILY

Accompanying this report is a chart prepared by
Mary Martha Grogan Lundy on which we have named the descend-
ants (and their families) of Alexander Benjamin Lawton as

completely as our current information allows us to do. We

- will continue to gather information that will contribute

either to a future report dealing only with the descendants
of Summer QOaks or dealing with an enlarged and improved
edition of the present report. Correspondents who
wish to elaborate on the lives of people named on the chart
or who wish to identify d&scendénts whose names should be
added may send information to Dr. Church at the address
given in the Preface to this report. Any information pre-
vided should explain the subject person's descent from
Alexander Benjamin Lawton.

In this part cf our report we write about Narcissa
Melissa and each of Alexander Benjamin's children briefly

describing what happened to them in later years.

Narecisea Melisssa Lawton

On December 28, 1862, Narcissa wrote the last entry in

the part of her diary we have, giving us our last impression

&0
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of her life during that period. 5he continued to live at
the plantation on her Dower Property through the years of
the war. We have a report from her son, Winborn Theodore,
that he was with her at home in the Fall of the year 1866
when he and Alex both left home once again and for the
final time. She may have continued to live there between
the Fall of 1866 and November of 1870 when the Dower
Property was sold. She lived her later years in Oviedo,
Florida, with her daughter Lona. WNarcissa Melissa Lawton
died August 16, 1883, at the age of sixty-six. There is a
gravestone for her in the Oviedo cemetery in Oviedo, Florida,
and members of the family in Florida are confident she was

buried there.

Mary Jane lawton

Alexander Benjamin's oldest daughter married David
Montague Laffitte in 1854. They had one daughter who was
named Mary Edla Laffitte, and who died as an infant on
February 6, 1856. Mary Jane died three months later cn
May 1, 1856, They both were buried in Lebanon cemetery
which later became the cemetery for Summer Oaks plantation.
Their graves and gravestones are now in the relic of Lebanon
cemetery, in land lot #124 in Thomas County, about seventy-
five yards off the east side of state_highway'iBS, north of
the creek, at the top of the hill. UWe have visited them

there,
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Martha S. Lawton

Murtha S. married Walter Gwynn, an attorney who lived
in Monticello, Florida. FHe later became a judge. They had
no children.

In January 1890, her sister Clara wrote in a letter,
"“Sister Mattie has gone North to be under a doctor--her
health is very bad and has been for many years."

In May, 1892, her sister Lona wrote from Oviedo,

"1 made a short visit to Sanford to see. sister Mattie

last week taking my two little girls--Mary and Mattie--

with me." Sanford is a city in Florida located close to

Oviedo.

We have no further informaticn about Martha.

" Busebia Lawton

Eusebia was born between 1B36 and 1839, She died

sometime before 1850, We do not know where she was buried.

Alexander Cater Lawton

After the war, Alex returned to Summer Oaks, where-
he stayed until the Fall of 1866 when he and his brother,
Winborn Thecdore, both left home. Alex went to Monticello,
Florida, where, on Hovember 29, 1866, he married Sarah A.
Godfrey. They had one child, Annie Nareissa Lawton born
July 22, 1877.

We know very little sbout Alex. Durirz the deczade of

the 1820's he was living near his irother, Winborn Theodore,
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somewhere around Caddo Parish, Louisiana. Alexander Cater
Lawton died July 26, 1921, in Sycamcre, Georgia, at the

age of eighty.

Winborn Thecdore Lawton

We have a "Brief Sketch of My Life" by Winborn T,
Lawton, taken from his scrapbook by his daughter, Josie
Adams, and provided to us by Ruth Thomas. His sketch is
quoted below.

1865...In the spring of the year I closed my
military career as a soldier in the Confederate
Army. 1 returned home, taught Tommie and Lona
(my brother and sister), then in the Fall served
as an apprentice in the wheelwright trade under
Reverend B. S. Fuller, where I remained until
Christmas.

1866.... In the Spring, engaged in the lime and
turpentine busginess with Captain Walker Gwynn and
my brother-in-law, Walter Gwynn. In the Summer,
returred to my mother's and in the Fall, in

company with my biother, A. C. Lawton, went to
Chattahoochee, Florida, where we szparated, I
went to Alabama and he went to Maonticello, Florida.
The same Fall I went to work for Reverend Vm.
Hilliard in the wheelwright business, where 1
remained until Christmas, 1866.

1867.... The second Monday in January I went in
co-partnership with Mr. Sanford Eason, teaching
school in Brundidge where I remained until Summer
and took a school at a place called 'The Level'

or 'Hepsibah Baptist Church.' On the 27th of

June I married. My school continued until Fall when
I emigrated to Louisiana. I stopped at Greenwood
took the agency of a plantation called 'Pages Home
Place,' remained until the Surmer of 1889 vwhen I
took a schoel in Shreveport, Louisiana until 1870;
tgught gechool at Line Creek in Cadds Parish, Louisiana
1871.

The weman Winborn Theodore married in 1867 was Mary Ann
Hhalef. When they married, Winnie was twenty-four years old;

Mary Ann was fifteen.
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Winborn Theodore was a farmer, a deacon and occasional
Baptist preacher, and a school teacher. Over a period of
severzl years he taught in various schools in the area of
east Texas, Arkansas, and Louisiana. Around the year 1882,
the family moved to a farm of 160 acres located in Caddo
Parish, Louisiana, in a community named Frog Level. Winborm
Theodore lived there until he died at the age of forty-nine,
November 14, 18%92. He was buried in the cemetery at
Munnerlyn Chapel, located on the Hira-#tllnta road in Caddo
Parish, Louisiana.

Mary Ann Whaley Lawton gave birth to ten children in
twenty-two years. Her sixth child was a girl named Birdie
Lawton, who married James Wilburn Grogan of Bloomburg, Texas.
She became the mother of James Tillman Grogan, the grand-
mother cf Jane Ann Grogan Church, and the great-grandmother

of Stacey Allene Church, who is co-author of this report.

Clara Isabella Lawton

Clara married John Thomas Whecler. They had two
children, both boys.

Our informztion about Clara comes from a few letters
between several members of the family.

In May, 1868, Emma Lencra (Lona), wrote that Clara
and her husband were living in Hernando County, Florida.
Wheeler was i1l and dying. Clara was planning to move

back to Oviedo after the dezth of her husband.
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In January, 1890, Clara, now a widow, wrote to her
brother Winnie.
I suppose you heard my husband died leaving

me no property wicth two little boys--one eight and
the other twelve,

-

1 am teaching school three miles from Cviedo.
I walk a mile and a half which is the distance to
the school heouse. 1 am living in one of Tom's
houses and board his clerk. I do 211 my own work
and have no help so0 you can see my time is pretty
well occcupied, 3}y brothers and sisters are all
well off. They have fine bearing orange groves.

PR

o

B Tom has a large fine store and is doing a good
8 business here but Rob is richer than any of the
rest--in other words he is well off, he is having
B a splendid twc-story house built zll nicely
% plastered. I have no house of my own.
] In May 1892,. Lona wrote a letter saying Clara lived a
A half mile away.
Fu_ In February 1895, Clara wrote to nher niece Lona Lawton
- at Frog Level, Louisiana,
!:.‘ 1 ; .
X I am living near brother Robert Lawton and
in one of his immense orange groves with my two
] sons Benjamin Franklin and Robert Lee-the former
Fé seventeen--the latter nearly fourteen. I have
only two children.
.
Eé I am living in sight of your Aunt Lona for
o whom you are named.
E} Clara Iszbelle died in 1912 at the age of sixty-seven,
[ Robert William Lawton
Robert married Mary Cwynn and lived in Oviedo, Florida.
L_ According to his sister Clara, Robert was a successful farmer.
Iu He owned the largest orange grove in the family and was
i quite prosperous.
J__ Robert was an active church worker serving, at one time,

as pastor of a church in Oviedo.
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Robert and lary had five children who lived to maturity.
Robert William Lawton died in 1909 at the age of

sixty-tve.

Eenjamin F. Lawton

Benjamin was born in 1848 or 1849 and died shortly
before September 4, 1853. He may have been buried in

Lebanon cemetery at Surmer Oaks.

Thomas J. Lawton

We have very little information about Thomas. We
- have a letter dated May 17, 1888, from Oviedo, Florida,
in which he gave this descriptiom.

My wife's name is Josephene. We conly have
one child, and his rame is "Tcm Lawton' nothing
more, he is ot a year old yet., I hasve been
married twice, have had fiwve childrsn but they
are 2ll dead and gouz buf our little boy now,

In January 1890, hiz sistar Clara wrcte that Ten
owned a store in QOviedo. 1In May 1892, his sister Lomna
wrote that he was living in Arcadia, Florida.

We would like to find more informotion about Thoiras

and his descendants.

Emma Lenora Lawton

Emma Lenova (Lena) married Andrew Aulin an immigzrant
from Swcden. They wers pionser settlers of Oviedo, Florida.
Four children were boxn into this farmily. Their

third child was 2 girl named Mary Hanoeh Aczlin.  After
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Mary's cousin Birdie Lawton Grogan died, Mary Hannah Aulin
became the second wife of James Wilburn Grogan in Dloomburg,
Texas,

In March 1887 Lona wrote saying that they had 500
orange trees and that her husband had given up storckeeping
in order to devote his full time tc his orange grove and
te farming. They raised potatoes, turnips and had a cow
that Lona milked. Apparently they kept ownership of their
store because in May 1892, she wrote that Theodore, her
oldest son, was helping his father in the store.

Emma Lenora died July 29, 1907, at the age of 53.
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PART VII

EPILOGUE

Alexander Cater Lawton, oldest son of Alexander Benjamin,

lived to a later date than any other member of the Summer
Qaks family. From 1809 when A.B. was born, to 1921 when

Alex died was a period of 112 years that saw the Lawton's

fortunes and style of life change completely. A.B. was

born into a way of life which probably seemed safely under
the control of the members of his large family, a pastoral,
largely self-reliant plantation life, comfortable, yet
dependent upon slave labor for its continuation, and the
existence of slavery ultimately was beyond the limits of
public tolerance in a free nation.

Narcissa Melissa lived to see the destruction of the
plantation based, large family, life style she knew so well.
She recorded in poetry the events she experienced and
emotions she felt from the time of her early girlhood in
South Carolina to the time of her retirement in Florida.
In later years her poetry grew reflective as she reviewed
her life, remembered the people she had known and loved,
and prepared for whatever would come mext. "To My Old

Album" is a posm which helpzd her close out her life.
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To my old Album

i Tis a record long forpgotten,
- With ite time worn faded leaves.

Sad I turn the pages over,

1 - And a sigh my bosom heaves.
; There are names, oh, how familiar

Once they sounded to my ear,
& Strangers now and separated,
: Every friendship once so dear.
E ) Some whose fingers traced these verses
= With a fair and steady hand,

Long ago have macde their exits

To the-brighter better land.

(

Sad momentos, how I linger,
On each name that meets my view,

And my heart its pulses quicken,

At those words of friendship true.
I may not see those forms that bounded

Once so merrily and free.
I may not hear the tones that sounded

With such melody to me. |
But before my mental vision

When these faded lines I trace
Rises up in quick succession

Every form, and voice, and face.

Marcissa Melissa Lawton

1817-1883
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